2009

John Daniel Thorpe v. Washington City : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. **Did the trial court err in granting Summary Judgment in favor of Appellee on Appellant's Whistleblower Act claim when Appellant filed a Notice of Claim within the 180-day statutory limitation period designated by Utah Code Ann. § 67-21-4?**

Standard of review: Correction-of-error. *Schurtz v. BMW of N. Am., Inc.*, 814 P.2d 1108 (Utah 1991). In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, an appellate court views “the facts in a light most favorable to the losing party below” and gives “no deference to the trial’s conclusions of law: those conclusions are reviewed for correctness.” *Blue Cross & Blue Shield v. State of Utah*, 779 P.2d 634, 636-37 (Utah 1989); *Goodnow v. Sullivan*, 44 P.3d 704 (Utah 2002).

Issue Preserved at: [R. 156-159]. [R. 245]. [R. 310, p. 10].

2. **Did the trial court err in granting Summary Judgment in favor of Appellee on Appellant's Wrongful Discharge, Due Process and Breach of Contract claims when it determined that Utah Code Ann. § 10-3-1106 provides the sole basis of adjudication of those claims?**

Standard of review: Correction-of-error. *Schurtz v. BMW of N. Am., Inc.*, 814 P.2d 1108 (Utah 1991). In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, an appellate court views “the facts in a light most favorable to the losing party below” and gives “no deference to the trial’s conclusions of law: those conclusions are reviewed for correctness.” *Blue Cross & Blue Shield v. State of Utah*, 779 P.2d 634, 636-37 (Utah 1989); *Goodnow v. Sullivan*, 44 P.3d 704 (Utah 2002).

Issue Preserved at: [R. 107-109]. [R. 242-244]. [R. 310, pp. 12-14].

3. Did the trial court err in granting Summary Judgment in favor of Appellee on Appellant's claim for Unjust Enrichment?

Standard of Review: Correction-of-error. *Schurtz v. BMW of N. Am., Inc.*, 814 P.2d 1108 (Utah 1991). In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, an appellate court views “the facts in a light most favorable to the losing party below” and gives “no deference to the trial’s conclusions of law: those conclusions are reviewed for correctness.” *Blue Cross & Blue Shield v. State of Utah*, 779 P.2d 634, 636-37 (Utah 1989); *Goodnow v. Sullivan*, 44 P.3d 704 (Utah 2002).

Issue Preserved at: [R. 114]. [R. 244-245]. [R. 310, pp. 14-15].

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case.

1. This appeal requires the Court to determine the following questions of law:
 - (1) Whether a Notice of Claim (under the Governmental Immunity Act of Utah, hereinafter, “UGIA”) containing a “whistleblower” claim filed within the 180-day statutory limitations period imposed by the Utah Protection of Public Employees Act (hereinafter, “Whistleblower Act,” or “WBA”) is sufficient to preserve that claim even if an actual complaint is not filed until after the 180-day limitation period.
 - (2) Whether Utah Code Ann § 10-3-1106 provides the sole basis of adjudication of a municipal employee’s claims and whether a municipal employee must exhaust the remedies set forth in Utah Code Ann § 10-3-1106.
 - (3) Whether, under the liberal standard of notice pleading in Utah, a party who

includes an “unjust enrichment” claim must plead with particularity that all legal remedies are either inadequate or non-existent.

2. The Appellant in this case (who was Plaintiff in the underlying trial case) is John Daniel Thorpe, a resident of Washington County, Utah.
3. The Appellees in this case are Washington City, a Utah municipal corporation [R. 45] and Unknown Persons 1-10 who are individuals employed by or acting as agents of (all of whom were Defendants in the underlying trial case). [R. 1].
4. For ease of reference, this Brief will refer to Washington City as the “Appellee” since no other parties were specifically identified as Defendants in the underlying case and because no party other than Washington City filed an answer.

Course of Proceedings/Disposition of trial court.

5. On August 1, 2006, Appellant filed a *Complaint* in the Fifth Judicial District Court, Washington County against Appellees. [R. 1-40].
6. In the *Complaint*, Appellant alleged the following seven causes of action:
 - (1) Unjust Enrichment – Claim for Wages
 - (2) Wrongful Discharge from Employment
 - (3) Due Process
 - (4) Breach of Contract
 - (5) Violation of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. § 12101 *et seq.*)¹
 - (6) Violation of the Whistleblower Act (Utah Code Ann. § 67-21-1 *et seq.* (1985))

¹ Appellant agreed to the dismissal of the ADA claim [R. 310, p. 11, lines 3-5], and therefore, this Brief does not address any issue related thereto.

- (7) Private Attorney General [R. 10-21].
7. Appellee filed an *Answer* on August 25, 2006. [R. 44-65].
 8. On December 5, 2006, Appellee submitted a *Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings* pursuant to Utah R. Civ. P. 12(c). The Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings and accompanying memorandum addressed Appellant's Unjust Enrichment and WBA claims. [R. 74-82].
 9. On the same day, Appellee also filed a *Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction* (hereinafter, "Motion to Dismiss"). The Motion to Dismiss and accompanying memorandum addressed the balance of Appellant's claims (Wrongful Discharge from Employment, Due Process, Breach of Contract, Violation of the ADA, and Private Attorney General). [R. 83-99].
 10. Appellant filed *Memoranda in Opposition* to the Motion to Dismiss and Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings on January 16, 2007.² [R. 105-118].
 11. Appellee filed a *Reply Memoranda* on January 22, 2007. [R. 121 and R. 128].
 12. Prior to any hearing on the Motion to Dismiss and Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings, counsel for Appellant and Appellee stipulated to allow Appellant to file an *Amended Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings* [R. 147] which Amended Memorandum was filed on August 17, 2007. [R. 150].
 13. Additionally, Appellant filed a *Motion for Leave to File Supplemental Brief on 12(b)(1)*

² In the Memorandum in Opposition to the Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings, Appellant voluntarily agreed to dismiss the WBA claim. [R. 116]. However, respective counsel for the parties stipulated to allow Appellant to file an Amended Memorandum in Opposition to the Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings [R. 147]. Appellant's Amended Memorandum reinstituted the WBA claim. [R. 156].

Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Jurisdiction and the accompanying *Supplemental Brief (Memorandum)* on August 20, 2007. [R. 161-164].

14. Appellee filed its *Reply to Plaintiff's Amended Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings* on August 28, 2007. [R. 172] and its *Reply to Plaintiff's Supplemental Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant's Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Subject Jurisdiction* on September 14, 2007. [R. 183].
15. Appellee submitted a *Motion for Summary Judgment* and accompanying memorandum on April 2, 2009.³ [R. 196-238].
16. Appellant responded in his *Memorandum in Opposition* on April 24, 2009. [R. 239].
17. Appellee's *Reply Memorandum* was filed on May 4, 2009. [R. 264].
18. After the trial court heard oral arguments on June 23, 2009, the court entered an *Order Granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment* on August 19, 2009.
19. Appellant timely filed a *Notice of Appeal* on September 17, 2009.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

20. Appellant is a former Washington City employee who was employed in the City's public works department. [Admin H. Tr. 18-19]⁴.
21. Appellant suffered a workplace injury in September 2003 and was unable to return to full duty until February 2004. [Admin H. Tr. 22].

³ Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment is a reiteration (with some refinements) of the legal arguments that first appeared in the Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction which was filed several years prior on December 6, 2006 [R. 83].

⁴ References to the April 6, 2005 administrative hearing conducted before the Washington City Employee Appeals Board in the *Matter of the Appeal of the Termination of John Daniel Thorpe's Employment* are designated "[Admin. H. Tr. ____]". Documents introduced during the administrative hearing are designated "[Admin. H. Ex. ____]."

22. On March 9, 2004, Appellant returned to work and was asked to submit to an alcohol test which included both a breath and urine analysis component. [Admin H. Tr. 79].
23. Mike Shaw (“Shaw”), the Public Works Director for Washington City and Appellant’s direct supervisor [Admin H. Tr. 17-18] requested the test because Appellant had failed a breath alcohol test that had been administered approximately two years earlier on April 2, 2002 and Shaw wanted to ensure that Appellant was returning to work without any alcohol in his system. [Admin H. Tr. 24-25].
24. Jody Westover (“Westover”) a certified breath and alcohol technician [Admin. H. Ex. 6] administered both the breath and urine tests. [Admin. H. Exs. 8 and 9].
25. Westover employed the Alco Sensor VI machine for the breath test. [Admin. H. Exs. 8 and 9].
26. At the time of the initial breath test⁵, Appellant registered an initial 0.44 blood alcohol concentration (“BAC”)) level. Approximately 15 minutes later, Westover performed a confirmation test resulting in a positive showing of 0.36 BAC level for Appellant. [Admin H. Tr. 86-87]. [Admin. H. Ex. 8].
27. Between the initial and confirmation breath tests, Westover performed a urine analysis. The results showed a .086 BAC level. [Admin H. Tr. 90]. [Admin. H. Ex. 9].
28. After leaving the worksite, Appellant promptly visited Jeff Cutler (“Cutler”), an independent breath alcohol and calibration technician who performed a breath test with results showing a .004 BAC level. Cutler performed at 10:42 a.m., approximately 1 hour and 17 minutes after the confirmation test performed by Westover. [Admin.

⁵ At approximately 9:10 a.m. on March 9, 2004.

H. Ex. C].

29. Appellee prepared an Employee Disciplinary Report on March 9, 2004 for Appellant's alleged "second offense" of "reporting under the influence." [Admin. H. Ex. 2].
30. On March 10, 2004, Shaw issued a letter on behalf of Appellee notifying Appellant that Appellant's employment would terminate March 15, 2004⁶ due to violation of Appellee's personnel policy. In the letter, Shaw also noted that Appellant was entitled to provide any information that might justify a reevaluation of the termination, including proof of "prescription or nonprescription drugs or other relevant medical information." Shaw also advised Appellant of his right to appeal the termination within 10 days and a public hearing pursuant to Section § 10-3-1106 and the Washington City Personnel Policy, Section XIX. [Admin. H. Ex. 3].
31. Appellant's physician subsequently explained to Appellant that Appellant's liver condition and the four prescription medicines that he was taking at the time of the alcohol testing could have affected the test results. After receiving this information, Appellant wrote a letter dated March 19, 2004 outlining his concerns about the accuracy of the machinery used in the workplace breath tests, the accuracy of the urine test, the influence of prescription medications on his test results, and the concern that Shaw held a personal vendetta against him. [Admin. H. Ex. 4].
32. Appellant's physician's office also provided a letter dated March 19, 2004 affirming that Appellant had elevated liver enzymes and had been referred to

⁶ As of March 15, 2004, Appellant had been employed with Washington City for approximately 10 years and 3 months. [R. 7].

hematology/oncology to be evaluated for possible hemochromatosis (a disease resulting in accumulation of iron in the liver and other organs. [Admin. H. Ex. A].

33. Appellee did not reverse its decision to terminate Appellant's employment, and Appellant timely appealed his termination to the Washington City Employee Appeals Board ("Appeals Board"). [R. 7].
34. Prior to Appellants April 6, 2005 Appeals Board hearing, Appellant was asked to testify in front of the Appeals Board in November, 2004 concerning the termination of another Washington City employee. During that hearing, Appellant testified that Shaw had misused and wasted public funds, property and manpower. [R. 8].
35. Appellant felt certain that Shaw would seek retribution against Appellant at his own hearing on April 6, 2005. [R. 8].
36. After the hearing before the Appeals Board on April 6, 2005, the Appeals Board unanimously (by 5-0 vote) ratified the termination decision. [Admin H. Tr. 181-184] and [R. 8].
37. Appellant filed a *Notice of Claim* on September 1, 2005 pursuant to the UGIA, specifically Utah Code Ann. § 63-30d-401 and 402 (2004).⁷ [R. 38-40].
38. In the Notice of Claim, Appellant made various substantive factual allegations that would later serve as a basis for the civil Complaint filed on August 1, 2006. Among other things, Appellant asserted that:
 - (1) Westover was inexperienced and the Alco Sensor VI machine for the

⁷ Title 63 of the Utah Code was recodified effective May 15, 2008. Former Utah Code Ann. § 63-30d-101 through § 63-30d-904 (and any amendments) is now codified at Utah Code Ann. § 63G-7-101 through § 63G-7-904.

- breath test was not operating properly;
- (2) Appellant suffered from a liver condition and was taking medications that might have affected the outcome of the tests;
 - (3) Appellant's testimony against Shaw for misusing Washington City property at the November 2004 hearing on behalf of another employee provided an additional motive for Shaw and the Appeals Board to ratify Appellant's termination;
 - (4) Appellee failed to pay Appellant approximately \$522.56.
39. In the Notice of Claim, Appellant also asserted the following as potential claims: (1) Breach of Contract, (2) Violation of 34 U.C.A. § 28 "Payment of Wages," (3) ERISA Violations, (4) Wrongful Termination, (5) Denial of Due Process, and any other specific cause of action discovered during litigations. [R. 39-40].
40. Appellee did not respond to the Notice of Claim; therefore, Appellant filed a Complaint alleging the seven cause of action (previously noted) on August 1, 2006. [R. 1].
41. After various motions and memoranda had been filed by both parties⁸ over a period of almost three years, the trial court issued an Order Granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment ("Order Granting Summary Judgment") resulting in a dismissal of all of Appellant's seven claims. [R. 295].
42. Relevant to the issues and arguments presented in this case on appeal are the legal

⁸ See the preceding "Course of Proceedings/Disposition of trial court" section of this Brief for an description of the motions and memoranda.

bases on which the trial court relied to justify dismissal of Appellant's claims.⁹ In fact, most of Appellant's underlying factual allegations were never considered or addressed because the trial court focused almost exclusively on statutory and prior case law in precluding Appellant's claims.

43. The rationale applied by the trial court in its Order can be summarized by the following chart:

Appellant's Claim(s)	Trial court's Reason for Dismissal
1. Wrongful Discharge 2. Breach of Contract 3. Due Process	1. Article VIII, section 5 of the Utah Constitution delineates a district court's authority to directly review the decisions of lower tribunals. 2. There is no statute that authorizes the district court to review the Washington City Appeals Board's decision. 3. In fact, Utah Code Ann. § 10-3-1106(6)(a) lodges jurisdiction over such review exclusively with the Utah Court of Appeals (not the district courts). 4. Appellant's claims of Wrongful Discharge, Due Process, and Breach of Contract are all obligations that arise out of or relate to the Appeals Board Hearing on April 6, 2005. 5. Because Utah courts look to the nature of the action and not the pleading labels chosen, Appellant's Wrongful Discharge, Due Process, and Breach of Contract claims are in substance part and parcel of a <i>single claim</i> , namely that "the appeal board abused its discretion or exceeded its authority." 6. This "single claim" can only be heard by the Court of Appeals (not the district court) per Utah Code Ann. § 10-3-1106(6)(a) and (c). 7. Although Utah Code Ann. § 10-3-1106(6)(a) does provide that "a final action or order of the appeal board <i>may</i> be appealed to the Court of Appeals" (emphasis added), the term "may" is permissive only in

⁹ Through some oversight on the trial court's part, it does not appear that Appellant's seventh cause of action for "Private Attorney General" was technically disposed of in the Order Granting Summary Judgment.

	<p>that it allows a discharged employee the option to appeal if he/she wishes to. The term “may,” however, does not mean that the discharged employee may appeal to a court other than the Court of Appeals.</p> <p>8. Therefore, the district court does not have jurisdictional authority over Appellant’s Wrongful Discharge, Due Process or Breach of Contract claims and summary judgment is appropriate. [R. 298-301].</p>
4. ADA	<p>1. Appellant did not timely file a verified charge of discrimination with the EEOC.</p> <p>2. Appellant agreed to dismissal. [R. 301].</p>
5. Unjust Enrichment	<p>1. Unjust Enrichment is an equitable remedy that may be invoked only when there is no adequate remedy at law.</p> <p>2. A plaintiff seeking equitable remedy must affirmatively show a lack of adequate remedy at law on the face of the pleading and from evidence.</p> <p>3. Appellant did not allege in his complaint that legal remedies are inadequate or present an argument that state/federal laws are inadequate to address nonpayment. [R. 301-302].</p>
6. WBA	<p>1. Utah Code Ann. § 67-21-4(2) indicates that employee “may bring a civil action for appropriate injunctive relief of actual damages, or both within 180 days after the occurrence of the alleged violation.”</p> <p>2. The alleged violation occurred on the date Appellant’s appeal was denied (April 6, 2005); however Appellant did not file an action alleging a violation of WBA until August 1, 2006—more than 180 days after the alleged violation.</p> <p>3. Although Appellant filed a Notice of Claim within the 180-day statutory period under the WBA, the Act requires that a “civil action” be brought within 180 days, <i>not</i> that a notice of claim be filed within 180 days.</p> <p>4. Because an actual complaint for Appellant’s Whistleblower claim was not filed within 180 days of the violation, Appellant’s claim thereunder is precluded.</p> <p>5. Even if the Notice of Claim preserved Appellant’s WBA claim Appellant admitted that he was not terminated for “blowing the whistle.” [R. 302-303].</p>
7. Private Attorney General	<p>* It does not appear this claim was ever disposed of by the district court as there is no specific reference to it in the Order Granting Summary Judgment.</p>

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erroneously determined that Appellant did not comply with the 180-day statutory filing deadline imposed by Utah Code Ann. § 67-21-4 of the WBA because Appellant filed a UGIA Notice of Claim within that 180-day period, but did not file a complaint. In fact, Appellant's filing of the Notice of Claim within the 180-day period was sufficient to preserve Appellants WBA claim even though an actual complaint was not filed within the 180-day period.

The trial court also erred in finding that Section § 10-3-1106(6)(a) provides the only legal recourse for Appellant in seeking adjudication of his claims for Wrongful Discharge, Due Process and Breach of Contract. Furthermore, even if the Court of Appeals is the only direct body to which a municipal appeals board decision might be appealed, Appellant formulated subsequent theories based on violation of Due Process and Breach of Contract that were never fully expounded by Appellant or heard by the Appeals Board and these subsequent claims may be brought independently in district court.

Finally, the trial court improperly dismissed Appellant's Unjust Enrichment claim on the basis that Appellant failed to specifically plead that no legal remedy existed or that any such remedy was inadequate to satisfy his claim of non-payment of wages. Based on Utah's liberal notice pleading standard (Utah R. Civ. P. 8), Appellant provided facts in his Complaint that are sufficient to establish the elements of an unjust enrichment claim.

\\

\\

\\

ARGUMENT

1. The trial court erred in granting Summary Judgment in favor of Appellee on Appellant's Whistleblower Act claim because Appellant properly filed a Notice of Claim within the 180-day statutory period designated for such claims, thereby preserving the claim.

A. Standard of Review.

A grant of summary judgment is appropriate only when “there is no genuine issue as to any material fact” and “the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c). In reviewing the appropriateness of a grant of summary judgment, this Court views “the facts in a light most favorable to the losing party below” and gives “no deference to the trial court’s conclusions of law: those conclusions are reviewed for correctness.” *Blue Cross & Blue Shield v. State of Utah*, 779 P.2d 634, 636-37 (Utah 1989); *Goodnow v. Sullivan*, 44 P.3d 704 (Utah 2002).

B. Appellant timely complied with the requirements of the UGIA and Whistleblower Act.

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