2009

John Daniel Thorpe v. Washington City : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. A public employee claiming a violation of the Whistleblower Act must file a “civil action” within 180 days from the date of the alleged violation in order for his claim to be timely. Here, it is undisputed that Thorpe did not file a civil action—*i.e.*, a complaint in district court—within 180 days from the date of the alleged violation. As a result, the trial court dismissed the claim as untimely.

Thorpe claims the trial court erred because, even though he did not file a civil action within 180 days, he did file a notice of claim with the City in that time period and that, he argues, met the “civil action” filing requirement. Against a straightforward application of basic rules construction, his argument is without merit. First, we must presume the Legislature used the term “civil action” advisedly, and apply its plain and

ordinary meaning. The plain and ordinary meaning of the term connotes one thing: filing a complaint in district court.

Second, under the applicable statutory scheme, a notice of claim and a civil action are two different events that serve different purposes. The notice of claim is a prerequisite to filing a civil action. As such, to accept Thorpe's construction of the term "civil action" would not only require this Court to ignore the plain and ordinary meaning of the term, it would require the Court to hold that the Legislature meant what it said in the Immunity Act—wherein a notice of claim precedes a civil action—but something entirely different in the Whistleblower Act (that "civil action" actually means notice of claim). Had the Legislature intended to mark the limitations period in the Whistleblower Act with the filing of a notice of claim, it would have said "notice of claim," not "civil action." It did not. And under settled rules of statutory construction, we presume that the Legislature means what it says. And when settled rules of construction are applied, the trial court's reasoned analysis is confirmed—the whistleblower claim was not timely filed.

Furthermore, not only is the whistleblower claim untimely and therefore procedurally barred, it is also substantively without merit. Specifically, in his deposition, Thorpe testified that he was not terminated for blowing the whistle on the City. That fact was undisputed. As a result, the trial court correctly dismissed his whistleblower claim as both untimely and meritless. The trial court was plainly correct in entering summary judgment for the City on the whistleblower claim. This Court should affirm.

2. Utah Code section 10-3-1106 provides that “[a] final action or order of the appeal board may be reviewed by the Court of Appeals by filing with that court a petition for review.” Utah Code Ann. § 10-3-1106(6)(a). To obtain this review, the employee must file a petition for review with this Court within thirty days of the date of the board’s final action. See id. § 10-3-1106(6)(b).

After the City terminated Thorpe’s employment, Thorpe invoked the procedures in section 10-3-1106 and obtained a review hearing before the City’s municipal employee appeals board. The Board affirmed Thorpe’s termination. It is undisputed that Thorpe did not appeal to this Court as required by section 10-3-1106. Instead, he filed a complaint in district court asking the district court to review both the merits of the Board’s decision and whether the hearing violated his right to due process. The trial court dismissed these claims for lack of jurisdiction. Thorpe claims error by offering a range of excuses, none of which has merit. This issue, like the previous issue, is resolved by straightforward application of rules of statutory construction.

The plain language of section 10-3-1106, as well as every relevant canon of statutory construction, lead to the inescapable conclusion that when the Legislature establishes an appellate procedure, the procedure must be followed. The statute does not offer a choice of forums. It required Thorpe to take his appeal to this Court within thirty days. His failure to do so deprived him of any review of the Board’s decision.

Additionally, pleading labels may not be utilized to sneak through the back door to the courthouse. It is the nature of the action that is determinative. As such, Thorpe can’t

simply attach the labels “breach of contract,” “wrongful discharge,” and “due process” as his ticket to a jury trial—while ignoring that all of the claims arose out of the hearing before the Board. Here, the nature of Thorpe’s action was what the trial court said it was: an appeal of the Board’s decision. By statute, he was required to pursue those claims in this Court; not in district court. The trial court was therefore correct in refusing to entertain claims that were not properly before it. This Court should affirm.

3. Finally, Thorpe assigns error to the trial court’s grant of summary judgment on his unjust enrichment claim. Because unjust enrichment is an equitable remedy, it is not available where there exists an adequate remedy of law. It is Thorpe’s burden to show that he has no adequate remedy at law. But he made no effort at all to explain, either to the trial court below, or to this Court on appeal that he has no available legal remedies. Indeed, there are a myriad of state and federal statutes governing the payment of wages. These are legal remedies, which, if applicable would bar recovery under the equitable unjust enrichment theory. Thorpe’s failure to make any effort to show that he is without adequate legal remedies warranted dismissal of his unjust enrichment claim. As a result, the trial court should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. THORPE’S WHISTLEBLOWER CLAIMS ARE TIME BARRED AND WITHOUT MERIT.

A. Thorpe Failed to Timely File a Civil Action.

The Utah Protection of Public Employees, commonly known as the “Whistleblower Act” (“WBA”), Utah Code Ann. §§ 67-21-1 to -9 (2008), prohibits public employers from taking adverse action against employees who “blow the whistle” on government by exposing, among other things, “any waste of public funds, property, or manpower, or a violation or suspected violation of a law, rule, or regulation” Utah Code Ann. § 67-21-3(1)(a). An employee claiming a violation of the WBA must “bring a civil action for appropriate injunctive relief or actual damages, or both, within 180 days after the occurrence of the alleged violation of [the WBA].” *Id.* § 67-21-4(2).

Thorpe sued the City for allegedly violating the WBA, claiming that the violation occurred on April 6, 2005. *See* R. 19; Thorpe Br. at 15. It is undisputed that Thorpe did not file his complaint in district court within 180 days from this date. *See* R. 1; Thorpe Br. at 15. Instead, he filed a notice of claim with the City within the 180-day period. The trial court reasoned that filing a notice of claim is not the equivalent to filing an actual “civil action” as required by section 67-21-4(2). [R. 302-303.] Accordingly, it granted the City’s motion for summary judgment, dismissing Thorpe’s whistleblower claim as untimely. [R. 302-303.]

Thorpe asserts this was erroneous because, his argument goes, when the Legislature used the term “civil action” in the WBA it really meant “notice of claim,” and

therefore his filing of a notice of claim satisfies the civil action filing requirement. See Thorpe Br. at 15-16. The trial court rejected this argument; so should this Court, for several reasons.

1. A plain language analysis precludes any conclusion that “civil action” actually means “notice of claim.”

The starting point is the plain language of the statute. See Lyon v. Burton, 2000 UT 19, ¶17, 5 P.3d 616 (“The plain language of a statute is generally the best indication of [legislative] intent.”). The statute provides that a “civil action” must be filed within 180 days from the date of the alleged violation. Utah Code Ann. § 67-21-4(2).

We must presume that the Legislature chose the term “civil action” advisedly, and give effect to the ordinary and accepted meaning of the term. See Nelson v. Salt Lake County, 905 P.2d 872, 875 (Utah 1995) (“We presume that the legislature used each word advisedly and give effect to each term according to its ordinary and accepted meaning.”). The term “civil action” connotes one thing: the filing of a complaint in district court to commence a civil judicial proceeding. See e.g., Utah R. Civ. P. 3(a) (“A civil action is commenced (1) by filing a complaint with the court, or (2) by service of a summons together with a copy of the complaint in accordance with Rule 4.”); Black’s Law Dictionary 31 (8th ed. 2004) (defining “action” as a “civil or criminal judicial proceeding”); <http://legal-dictionary.thefreedictionary.com/civil+action> (last visited February 11, 2010) (defining “civil action” as “any lawsuit relating to civil matters and not criminal prosecution”); Bryan A. Garner, Dictionary of Modern Legal Usage 20 (2d

ed. 1995) (defining “action” as “a mode of proceeding in court to enforce a private right . . .” and indicating that it is used interchangeably with the term “suit”).

The WBA does not offer or even imply a contrary meaning. Rather, it expressly contemplates that a civil action is an action actually filed in district court because it specifies in which district court a complainant must file the civil action. See Utah Code Ann. § 67-21-4(3). Notices of claim, by contrast, are not filed in district court. They are filed with the governmental entities against whom the action will be brought and merely give notice that the claimant intends to file a civil action. See Utah Code Ann. §§ 63-30d-401, -402 (Supp. 2004).⁴

Indeed, the Immunity Act clearly differentiates between a notice of claim and a civil action. It provides that “[i]f the claim is denied, a claimant may institute an action in the district court against the governmental entity or an employee of the entity.” Utah Code Ann. § 63-30d-403(2)(a) (emphasis added). It goes on to specify that the “claimant shall begin the action within one year after denial of the claim” Id. § 63-30d-403(2)(b) (emphasis added). By design, filing a notice of claim with a government entity and filing an “action” in district court are two different events.

For this Court to conclude otherwise and accept Thorpe’s argument, it would have to make the illogical assumption that the Legislature really meant “notice of claim” when

⁴ We cite the Immunity Act as contained in Title 63, Chapter 30d of the Utah Code, because that was the codification in effect at the time Thorpe’s claim arose. See S.B. 55, 55th Leg., Gen. Sess. (Utah 2004); Hoyer v. State, 2009 UT 38, ¶4 n.1, 212 P.3d 547. The Legislature has since re-numbered Title 63 and the Immunity Act is now contained in Title 63G, Chapter 7. See H.B. 68, 57th Leg., Gen. Sess. (Utah 2008) (re-codification of Title 63, Chapter 30d).

it used the term “civil action” in the WBA but actually meant what it said in using the terms in the Immunity Act. The rules of statutory construction do not permit this leap. Had the Legislature intended that a notice of claim mark the limitations period in the WBA, it would have said so. It did not. And “[w]hen language is clear and unambiguous, it must be held to mean what it expresses, and no room is left for construction.”’ Salt Lake Child & Family Therapy Clinic, Inc. v. Frederick, 890 P.2d 1017, 1020 (Utah 1995) (quoting Hanchett v. Burbidge, 202 P. 377, 379-80 (Utah 1921)).

2. Statutes must be read in harmony and effect must be given to all terms, rendering none superfluous.

Instead of addressing these basic rules of statutory construction, Thorpe flings several cases at the issue in the hopes of convincing the Court that at least one of them stands for the proposition that the Legislature did not actually mean what it said. But none of these cases hits center—or is even close. For example, Thorpe relies on Hall v. Dep’t of Corrections, 2001 UT 34, 24 P.3d 958, but Hall simply addressed what is now codified in the Immunity Act—that immunity is waived for whistleblower claims. See id. at ¶¶19-20. And while the Supreme Court acknowledged that a plaintiff must file a notice of claim as a prerequisite to suit, it did not hold or suggest that the 180-day limitations period in the WBA was tolled or otherwise satisfied by the filing of a notice of claim. See id. at ¶22.

Thorpe similarly errs in relying on Youren v. Tintic School District, 343 F.3d 1296 (10th Cir. 2003). There (we are told), the federal district court held that a notice of claim was sufficient to meet the 180-day limitations period. See id. at 1302. On appeal,

the Tenth Circuit did not review that aspect of the lower court's ruling because it determined that the defendant waived the statute of limitations defense. See id. at 1303-04. Youren, therefore, stands for nothing relevant to the question before this Court.

And in any event, whatever the federal district court's rationale for deciding in Youren that a notice of claim was a "civil action" under the WBA, it cannot be squared with the rules of statutory construction. Nor is it precedent that this Court is obligated to follow, as state courts never yield to federal court interpretations of state law. See First Nat'l Bank v. Rostek, 514 P.2d 314, 442 n.1 (Colo. 1973) (en banc) (recognizing that it is "well settled that a state court is not bound by federal court interpretation of state law"); Int'l Ass'n of Bridge, Structural & Ornamental Ironworkers v. Blount Int'l, Ltd., 519 So. 2d 1009, 1012 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1988) ("[S]tate courts, in construing and interpreting state law, are not bound by the decisions of federal courts."). Certainly this Court should not follow a federal district court's erroneous interpretation of state law.

Thorpe also relies on Fannen v. Lehi City, 2005 UT App 301U, No. 20040723-CA (Utah Ct. App. June 30, 2009) (mem.), which is curious for the simple reason that it rejected the argument Thorpe advances here. In Fannen, the plaintiff appealed the trial court's entry of summary judgment against him, arguing that "the 180-day statute of limitations in Utah Code section 67-21-4(2) (Whistle Blower Act) is superseded by the Notice of Claim provision found in Utah Code sections 63-30d-402, -403 (Government Immunity Act)[.]" Fannen, 2005 UT App 301U at para. 1. This Court affirmed summary judgment, reasoning that the notice of claim requirements in the Immunity Act do not

constitute the filing of a civil action for purposes of the 180-day limitations period in the WBA. See id. at para. 4. The Court reasoned that the Immunity Act “merely gives a deadline for which notice must be given that there is a claim against the State; it does not prohibit the legislature from imposing a shorter statutory filing date on a cause of action.” Id.

Because of Fannen’s memorandum decision status, the reasoning behind the Court’s result was abbreviated. Nevertheless, the result merely followed established rules of statutory construction: read all provisions of a statute in harmony with related statutes in order to give effect and meaning to all of their terms, rendering none superfluous. See Lyon, 2000 UT 19 at ¶¶17-18; Hoyer v. State, 2009 UT 38, ¶22, 212 P.3d 547; Due South, Inc. v. Dep’t of Alcoholic Beverage Control, 2008 UT 71, ¶33, 197 P.3d 82.

The trial court’s decision here was faithful to these rules. Harmonizing the WBA’s 180-day civil action filing requirement with the Immunity Act’s notice of claim requirement demonstrates a legislative intent to put a short fuse on the filing of whistleblower claims. To comply with the necessary notice and limitations requirements, a notice of claim must be filed within 120 days of the date the violation occurred to ensure that the underlying civil action may be timely filed within the 180-day period. See Utah Code Ann §§ 63-30d-403(1), (2) (requiring claimant to wait 60 days after

submitting notice of claim before filing a civil action).⁵ To read it any other way would render superfluous the requirement to file a “civil action” within 180 days “after the occurrence of the alleged violation” Utah Code Ann. § 67-21-4(2). And while Thorpe complains about the supposed unfairness of these requirements; one need only read the Utah Code to determine what action to take and when to take it.

In the final analysis, there is logic in the Legislature’s decision to impose a short statutory filing date on whistleblower claims. It precludes employees from raising spurious claims in response to disciplinary action taken against them later in their employment, when the lapse in time makes the claims inherently suspect and often nothing more than a retaliatory response to warranted discipline. It also reflects the reality in which our Legislature operates—that government officials often change as a result of elections and the political appointment process. Thus, it requires timely claims to ensure that public officials are held accountable to the people—as well as the whistleblower.

* * *

In sum, it is undisputed that Thorpe failed to file a civil action within 180 days of the date his alleged whistleblower claim arose. Accordingly, the trial court correctly held

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